

International Civil Aviation Organization

# Fifth Meeting of Aeronautical Telecommunication Network (ATN) Transition Task Force

Phuket, Thailand, 9 - 13 June 2003

# Agenda Item 1: Review the latest developments in the ATN Panel and the Aeronautical Mobile Communication Panel

#### Report of the Last Meeting of ATNP Joint WG

(Prepared by Japan)

# **SUMMARY**

This paper presents the report of last 4th meeting of Joint Working Group of ATNP held in Toulouse, France during 8-9 October 2002.

#### 1. Introduction

The 4th meeting of Joint Working Group of ATNP was held in Toulouse, France during 8-9 October 2002.

# 2. Discussion

The topics of the meeting are as follows (please refer to the attached Minutes of ATNP JWG/04 Meeting for the detail):

# 2.1 Merge ATNP into AMCP

(See 3.1 and 3.2 in the Minutes.)

ATN Panel Secretary informed that ANC would consider a proposal by the Secretariat in November 2002, to merge ATNP and Study Groups related to aeronautical communication matters into AMCP, which would be renamed. There were considerable objection by ATNP members, but no conclusion was made.

NOTE: <Latest Information> This has been concluded at the AMCP/8 Meeting held in ICAO Headquaters, 4-13 February 2003. The previous work by ATNP WG-A, WG B and CCB will be continued by new Working Groups (WG C, WG N and CCB) of the new ACP (Aeronautical Communications Panel).

ATTF/5-IP /3 -2-

# 2.2 TCP/IP issue on AMHS

(See 4.3, 4.4 and Attachment D in the Minutes.)

Japan presented a position statement not to allow the implementation of IP-based AMHS as an ATN solution, which was implementing or planning in Europe region. After considerable discussion, the statement was considered as reasonable and 'Guidance provided by ATNP on "AMHS over TCP/IP" 'was developed.

In the guidance, it is clearly stated that the "AMHS over TCP/IP" should be a local solution only and should not be a fully SARPs-compliant ATN implementation. The "AMHS over TCP/IP" should be subject to bilateral/regional agreements and necessary measures should be taken by the concerned State who implements the Non-SARPs-compliant "AMHS over TCP/IP", to ensure interoperability with SARPs-compliant AMHS.

# 2.3 <u>Use of the Public Internet</u>

(See 4.6 in the Minutes.)

ATN Panel Secretary reported that there could be a need for **Guidance Material concerning use of the public Internet for access to data banks or for exchange of AFTN messages**. It was agreed that the Panel would undertake initial investigation in relation with this issue, in expectation of receiving an ANC task in due course. This would be performed by WG B.

NOTE: This discussion is related with the Agenda Item 7 "Review the development of guidance material for the use of the Public Internet Technology to support AFTN".

# 2.4 <u>Status of Doc 9705</u> (Manual of Technical Provisions for the ATN) (See 6. and 10 in the Minutes.)

**Doc 9705 Edition 3** has been published and available in CD-ROM format only. After ATNP/4 expected to be mid-2004, **Doc 9705 Edition 4** was expected to be published to include the enhancements, i.e. the **IP SNDCF** (the use of IP Subnetworks as part of the ATN) and **Confidentiality solution** (cryptograph). Considering the target of ATNP/4 at the beginning of 2004, enhancements that were being developed would have to be completed for Summer 2003.

NOTE: This discussion is related with the Agenda Item 5 "Review the development of guidance material for the use of IP as a Sub Network for the ATN". Since the technical provisions for the IP/SNDCF is still under development by ATNP WG, though almost completed, it seems appropriate to develop the APAC regional Guidance Material after the work completion by ATNP WG expected in this year (2003). This will meet the target of 2005 of the Task 8 in the list of Subject/Tasks of the ATN Transition Task Force.

# 2.5 Status of Doc 9739 (Comprehensive ATN Manual)

(See 7. in the Minutes.)

Working Groups A and B together agreed to recommend publication of **Doc 9739 Edition 2** by the ICAO Secretariat, based on the available material at that time.

# 2.6 Next Meeting

(See 10. in the Minutes.)

Provisional dates were reserved for the next ATNP working group and subgroup meetings, from March 11th to 20th, 2003.

NOTE: <Latest Information> The above ATNP meetings have been cancelled due to the new structure of ACP. The ATN related meeting of WG M and N of ACP will be held in April 2003.

# 3. Recommendation

The meeting is recommended to note the information in this document.

**ATTACHMENT:** Minutes of ATNP JWG/04 meeting (ATNP JWG (A and B)  $-4^{th}$  Meeting, Toulouse, 7-10 October 2002.)

ATNP JWG/4-DP/01a

09/10/02

# AERONAUTICAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS NETWORK PANEL (ATNP) JOINT WORKING GROUP (A AND B) – 4<sup>TH</sup> MEETING

Toulouse, 7 – 10 October 2002

Minutes of ATNP JWG/04 meeting

**Presented by Jean-Yves Piram** 

# **Summary**

This document is the approved ATNP JWG/04 meeting minutes.

# **Table of contents**

1.	AGENDA ITEM 1: MEETING ORGANIZATIONAL ISSUES	2
2.	AGENDA ITEM 2: APPROVAL OF AGENDA	2
	AGENDA ITEM 3: PANEL SECRETARY'S REPORT	
3.1 3.2		
3.3		
	AGENDA ITEM 8: TCP/IP ISSUES	
4.1	1. Internet-based activities in Europe	3
4.2	2. IPv6 integration with the ATN	4
4.3		
4.4	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
4.5		
	AGENDA ITEM 5: CCB REPORT	
5.1		
5.2		
5.3	3. CCB participants	6
6.	AGENDA ITEM 4: DOC 9705 EDITION 3 STATUS	6
6.1		
6.2	2. Document 9705 Edition 4	6
7.	AGENDA ITEM 6: DOC 9739 EDITION 2 STATUS	6
7.1		
7.2	2. Publication of Document 9739 Edition 2	7
8.	AGENDA ITEM 7: ATN SECURITY ISSUES	
8.		
8.2		
8.3		
9.	AGENDA ITEM 9: ATNP WORK PROGRAMME PROGRESS	8
10.	AGENDA ITEM 10: SCHEDULE OF FUTURE MEETINGS	8
11.	ATTACHMENT A: AGENDA AS APPROVED BY THE MEETING	9
12.	ATTACHMENT B : LIST OF PARTICIPANTS	10
13.	ATTACHMENT C : LIST OF WORKING, INFORMATION AND DISCUSSION PAPERS	13
1.4	ATTACHMENT D. CHIDANCE DROWINED BY ATNOON HAMHE OVER TOR/ID!!	1 /

# 1. AGENDA ITEM 1: MEETING ORGANIZATIONAL ISSUES

1.1 The meeting was co-chaired by Brian Cardwell (Working Group B Rapporteur) and Jean-Yves Piram (Working Group A Rapporteur), who welcomed the participants to the 4<sup>th</sup> joint meeting of ATNP Working Group A and Working Group B (Joint Working Group). The list of participants is included as Attachment B to this report.

#### 2. AGENDA ITEM 2: APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Jean-Yves Piram presented WP01, which was the agenda of the meeting. This was approved without comments. The agenda is included as Attachment A to this report. It was also agreed that Agenda Item 8 (TCP/IP Issues) would be discussed before Agenda Item 7 (ATN Security Issues).

#### 3. AGENDA ITEM 3: PANEL SECRETARY'S REPORT

#### 3.1. Update from the Panel Secretary

3.1.1 Masoud Paydar presented WP04 "an Update from the Panel Secretary". He said that he had received the information from the OPLINK Panel Secretary that changes in Operational Requirements for AIDC may be forthcoming. He said that there was no formal request to ATNP to take on work related to the activities reported in section 4 (relevant planning/implementation issues). These were reported because they were felt to be of interest to the Panel. It had been agreed in the AFI Region to use Internet for non time-critical exchanges, because of the unreliability or non-existence of AFTN. The Panel Secretary insisted that there was confusion introduced by some information about the question of TCP/IP vs. ATN ICS that was being conveyed in Regional Groups without support or (informal) co-ordination with the ATN Panel. The ANC would soon consider a proposal by the Secretariat, to merge all Panels and Study Groups related to aeronautical communication matters into a single Panel. The main reason was that the ATNP had now completed most of its work. There was also a general trend in ICAO to streamline the technical work by Panels. Also there had been co-ordination issues between Panels, or uncertainty areas about which Panel should be in charge of a specific topic (e.g. ground-ground sub-networks).

#### 3.2. Discussion of the consolidation proposal

- 3.2.1 Jim Lenz, U.S. FAA Panel member, said that the ATN community was at a critical junction, where there were implementations of specific subsets in progress, but the full deployment of ATN was not yet completed. He thought that the merging of all communication Panels would not reduce work, but rather increase confusion. He suggested that a vote should take place among ATN Panel Members. Arnaud Dedryvere, French Panel member, feared that the need to share the work of such a Panel among many subgroups would not make the working structure more efficient. Claude Leclerc, Eurocontrol Panel member, supported this view and said that he was very worried with the idea to merge activities. Brian Cardwell, U.K. Panel member, said that the envisaged work was so diverse that there would be very little co-ordination enhancements resulting from the proposed consolidation. If gaps were existing (e.g. ground-ground communications), this should be resolved by clearly allocating the task to an existing body. Klauspeter Hauf, German Panel member, said that also in Germany there was little commonality between AMCP activities and ATNP activities in his organization. He said that for States it would not mean less work or less travels, but conversely more work. A debate took place about the main arguments for the consolidation and in particular about co-ordination issues.
- 3.2.2 Masoud Paydar said that ICAO was willing, at a management level, to have the technical work focusing on high level requirements and the technical details being gradually passed to other non-ICAO standardization bodies. This was an area of concern for several Panel members. Klauspeter Hauf highlighted that there was a

- contradiction between such an approach and the request to provide technical support to Regional Groups in such an environment.
- 3.2.3 Another comment made by Claude Leclerc and Jim Lenz was that the proposed consolidation occurring at this moment would probably be interpreted by some parties e.g. in the industry, as a message that ICAO does no longer believe in ATN.
- 3.2.4 Masoud Paydar re-stated that ICAO was no more in position to maintain the ATN Panel, since its work of SARPs development was completed. Maintenance activities were not sufficient to justify the need for a technical Panel. He finally explained, on an informal basis, that the other options for ICAO were termination of the ATN Panel activities, transformation into a Study Group, or creation of an Operations Group. 5 of 6 panel members attending this meeting cited substantial opposition to the timing of the proposal to merge ATNP into other Panels at this time.

#### 3.3. Grade of service

- 3.3.1 The meeting came back on another issue mentioned in the Panel Secretary report, that there could be a need for Guidance Material concerning standardized "grade of service" for use by States in their dealing with communication service providers (for leasing ATN services).
- 3.3.2 It was agreed that the Panel would undertake preliminary investigation in relation with this issue, in expectation of receiving an ANC task in due course. This would be performed by WGA, as part of its terms of reference that included the provision of expert advice when appropriate.

#### 4. AGENDA ITEM 8: TCP/IP ISSUES

#### 4.1. Internet-based activities in Europe

- 4.1.1 Claude Leclerc briefly presented WP06 (Use of Internet-based protocols to support ground communications in Europe). The main views included in the paper had already been presented in the Phuket JWG meeting. The paper reported that since August 2001, Eurocontrol and its member States were actively engaged in the study of the deployment of the TCP/IP protocol suite, in accordance with the objectives set in the EATMP Communications Strategy. The main driver for this activity was to study the replacement of the obsolescent X.25 technology that was widely used in Europe to support ground-to-ground data exchange. The paper also included recommendations about a possible adaptation of the work programme of the ICAO ATN Panel, in order to develop the necessary specifications to achieve a harmonised deployment of IP inter-network services to support ground data communications.
- 4.1.2 Eivan Cerasi (Eurocontrol) then presented IP02 (iPAX Task Force presentation). The scope of the Task Force is primarily ground-data oriented, but system-wide support is needed, potentially including voice or mobility (the latter for ground mobiles, e.g. buses on airports). The intention was to use industry standard communication products, to provide a secure internet protocol (IP) network service for European ATM services.
- 4.1.3 Brian Cardwell asked about priority handling in iPAX. Eivan Cerasi replied that this was a difficult subject that was on the work programme of iPAX. It would be addressed in the forthcoming months. Brian Cardwell was concerned with the fact of having no priority handling, if ATN were to be supported by such an IP subnetwork. The Joint Working Group noted with concern the phrase "It will correspond to the European regional implementation of the ICAO ATN internet SARPs". Clarification revealed this not to be correct, and IPAX will not be the ATN inter-network for Europe, however it could provide one regional ground-ground sub-network.
- 4.1.4 Eivan Cerasi said that Eurocontrol had observed that the subject of IP was not being discussed at present by an ICAO body. Hence the recommendation in WP06 previously presented by Claude Leclerc.

- 4.1.5 Masoud Paydar noted that there was no notion of a long-term fully-ATN compliant objective in the presentation. Eivan Cerasi said that it was the intention of having the iPAX infrastructure as the ground subnetwork for ATN applications. However, the short-term priority was the migration of currently X.25 based applications rather than the implementation of new ATN applications. The target was to have IP operational internationally by 2005. Concerning ATN, the relevant programme was Link2000+ and was being managed separately. At some point in time, both programmes would probably interface to build a full communication architecture for the ATN.
- 4.1.6 Naoto Sakaue asked why X.400 was not replaced with SMTP at the same time as X.25 was being replaced with TCP/IP. Claude Leclerc replied that the AMHS was part of the ECAC Comms strategy, and that applications and upper layers were not hit by the X.25 obsolescence. Jean-Marc Vacher added that whilst X.400 was also ageing, it was only software and there was no dependency on external hardware manufacturers, and thus long-term maintenance would be easier.

# 4.2. IPv6 integration with the ATN

4.2.1 Tony Whyman presented IP03 (IPv6 integration with the ATN). The presentation started with background information, and then provided some details about the "IP SNDCF" approach, that was being currently developed by ATN SG B1. The presentation also included a comparison between Mobile IP and the ATN, concluding that Mobile IP was not currently able to support the ATN air-ground communication requirements. This presentation had been given in the recent ATN2002 conference.

## 4.3. Position Statement of Japan on IP-based AMHS

- 4.3.1 Naoto Sakaue presented WP07 (Position Statement of Japan on IP-based AMHS). The paper presented the position statement of Japan regarding IP-based AMHS, the implementation of which was currently being investigated in the European Region, as reported at the 3rd ATNP WG and SG meetings in Phuket, in March 2002. The paper analysed the impact of such implementations on ATN conceptual matters, ATN implementation activities and past/current investment in the Asia/Pac Region. The paper concluded that the adoption of IP-based AMHS by ICAO would have enormous impact on the current status and the future development of the ATN. The paper recommended to decide that non-SARPs compliant IP-based implementations should not be recognized as ICAO ATN solutions, and that non-SARPs-compliant-IP-based AMHS implementations were only permissible as a "local solution" within a State or Region, subject to bilateral agreements and to provision of interoperability means by Parties implementing IP-based AMHS systems.
- 4.3.2 Masoud Paydar was grateful to receive such a clear State position statement. He said that additionally, some technical material making the comparison between both solutions would be needed to provide guidance to States.
- 4.3.3 Jim Moulton thought that ICAO should not get into technical discussion papers arguing why the ICAO solution should be developed rather than local non-SARPs compliant implementations. Jim Lenz said that only compliance with the SARPs allowed to gain benefit from the enormous effort that had been put in the ATN. Jack McConnell added the work described in WP07 was progressing in the Asia/Pac Region, with the goal of starting operational services in 2004. Klauspeter Hauf, Claude Leclerc and Jean-Yves Piram confirmed the view expressed in WP07, that it would be the role of States that are not strictly compliant with SARPs to provide the conversion facilities towards the fully compliant implementations.
- 4.3.4 Arnaud Dedryvere said that the main driving factor for the TCP/IP implementation in Europe was the announced obsolescence of X.25. Naoto Sakaue said that in Japan this was not seen as an issue. Tom McParland said that this could also be resolved at the subnetwork layer. In the U.S. for NADIN2, the plan was to replace X.25 with IP as a like for like sub-network replacement.
- 4.3.5 Masoud Paydar added to the discussion by noting that the Panel had to monitor implementations and provide expert advice to Regional bodies, in compliance with its terms of reference. He believed that such advice was needed as a matter of urgency by some Regional Planning Groups. On another hand, having the ATNP working on IP-based solutions would be an addition to the current ATNP work programme. Such an

- addition would require an ANC approval before the ATNP can effectively work on the subject. Jim Lenz said that there was no problem in recognizing that local solutions exist, however such solutions should not be entered in the SARPs, because only one ICAO solution should be allowed to be in the SARPs.
- 4.3.6 Masoud Paydar cited the example of FANS-1, that, although not being an ICAO solution, was discussed in Doc 9739, in terms of "FANS-1 accommodation" because it was a significant issue with respect to existing systems.
- 4.3.7 Brian Cardwell also suggested to develop Guidance material on UA to MTA communications using TCP/IP lower layers. This was considered as useful, but not as a matter of urgency. This would be further progressed for inclusion in Edition 3 of Document 9739.

# 4.4. Discussion of Flimsy 2 ("Guidance provided by ATNP on AMHS over TCP/IP")

- 4.4.1 Flimsy 2 was tabled, providing a written summary of the discussions and views commonly agreed by the meeting concerning "AMHS over TCP/IP" implementations. The paper was discussed at some length, and amended accordingly. Flimsy 2 Rev. b was approved as the ATNP guidance on "AMHS over TCP/IP". The agreed document is attached to this report.
- 4.4.2 It was agreed that the document would be used as a stand-alone document that the ICAO Secretariat could distribute to appropriate bodies requesting guidance about AMHS related matters, e.g. ICAO Regional Offices.

# 4.5. Confusion regarding air-ground ATN applications over TCP/IP

- 4.5.1 Greg Saccone presented IP05a ("Confusion regarding air-ground ATN applications over TCP/IP"). Working Group B had become aware of work within AEEC and presentations made on behalf of the US indicating that "TCP/IP" was a viable alternative to ATN in the US. The Working Group and multiple Panels members called the attention of States and Organizations that this was a misrepresentation of the US-policy regarding ATC-related services.
- 4.5.2 The US FAA Panel member was invited by the meeting to take appropriate actions to clarify this potential confusion about the US policy and to report to the ATNP Working Groups about the outcome of this task.

# 4.6. Use of the public Internet

- 4.6.1 The meeting came back on another issue reported in the Panel Secretary report, that there could be a need for Guidance Material concerning use of the public Internet for access to data banks or for exchange of AFTN messages.
- 4.6.2 It was agreed that the Panel would undertake initial investigation in relation with this issue, in expectation of receiving an ANC task in due course. This would be performed by WGB.

#### 5. AGENDA ITEM 5: CCB REPORT

# 5.1. Presentation of the CCB Report

5.1.1 Greg Saccone briefly presented the CCB report, highlighting the number of active PDRs, for each Sub-Volume.

#### 5.2. Publication of PDRs

- 5.2.1 Brian Cardwell asked how RESOLVED PDRs would be introduced in the SARPs, now that Document 9705 Edition 3 had been published. The question was on how to make sure that implementers are kept aware of such RESOLVED PDRs, that were applicable from their day of resolution.
- 5.2.2 The Panel Secretary suggested to place RESOLVED PDRs on the ATNP web site. This was agreed by the meeting.
- 5.2.3 The CLNP priority mapping table would need to be amended as the result of co-ordination with AMCP, concerning the inclusion of VDL Mode 3 and Mode 4 priorities. Concerning changes to Annex 10, it was agreed that the Panel Secretary would introduce a Draft Amendment 78 to the ANC to reflect this agreement. At ATNP level, a PDR would be raised in anticipation so as to keep Document 9705 in line with the Core SARPs as soon as Amendment 78 becomes applicable.

#### 5.3. CCB participants

- 5.3.1 The Joint Working Group approved the nomination of Simon Blake-Wilson as CCB SME8, in replacement for Jim Simpkins.
- 5.3.2 The Joint Working Group invited nominations for SME6, to fill a vacant position.

#### 6. AGENDA ITEM 4: DOC 9705 EDITION 3 STATUS

#### 6.1. Status of Edition 3

6.1.1 Masoud Paydar reported that Edition 3 was published and publicly available for purchase at ICAO Headquarters, in CD-ROM format only.

# 6.2. Document 9705 Edition 4

- 6.2.1 Amendment 1 to Document 9705 Edition 3 was expected to be published at the end of 2003 (after publication of Amendment 78 to Annex 10), including all RESOLVED PDRs.
- 6.2.2 After ATNP/4 expected to be mid-2004, Edition 4 of Doc 9705 was expected to be published to include the enhancements being developed in the current series of working group meetings, i.e. the IP SNDCF and Confidentiality solution.

#### 7. AGENDA ITEM 6: DOC 9739 EDITION 2 STATUS

#### 7.1. Status of Working Groups' work

- 7.1.1 Jean-Yves Piram reported that in Phuket, it had been agreed that further guidance material should be developed concerning AMHS addressing. This had been performed by Working Group A and Subgroup A3, and the related work had been recently approved for publication by Working Group A in its 4<sup>th</sup> meeting (Toulouse).
- 7.1.2 Brian Cardwell said that Doc 9739 had been ready for publication in Phuket, as far as WG B work was concerned. However, since that time, there had been a few security PDRs that had been resolved. Tom McParland further explained that the Guidance Material associated with the concerned topics had been updated accordingly, and a few amendments were being completed. Ten more days were needed to fully complete this work.

7.1.3 It was agreed that Guidance Material about further enhancements concerning security, e.g. regarding confidentiality, the IP SNDCF or other subjects would go into Edition 3 of Document 9739. Guidance Material associated with additional enhancements appearing in Edition 4 of Document 9705 would be handled in the same way.

#### 7.2. Publication of Document 9739 Edition 2

7.2.1 Working Groups A and B together agreed to recommend publication of Document 9739 Edition 2 by the ICAO Secretariat, based on the available material (subject to the minor amendments concerning ATN security being completed shortly).

# 8. AGENDA ITEM 7: ATN SECURITY ISSUES

#### 8.1. Status of SGB3 work

- 8.1.1 Tom McParland reported about the work that had been performed since the Phuket meeting about ATN security, that would be presented by means of several working papers to the joint work group.
- 8.1.2 Simon Blake-Wilson presented WP08, providing a summary report of the cryptographic approach adopted by the proposed confidentiality solution.
- 8.1.3 Tony Kerr presented WP09, providing a summary report of "Addition of Confidentiality in ULCS and Applications" Issues. He was confident that the Secure Dialogue Service that had been defined with the inclusion of confidentiality would meet the expectations of AOC as well as those of ATC, in line with the general practice of SGB2 to develop solutions that would be applicable for both AOC and ATC.
- 8.1.4 Jean-Yves Piram said that maintaining interoperability between secure and non-secure implementations was essential, including when confidentiality would be implemented. Jim Lenz insisted on the need for a sunset date being defined for communications without authentication.

#### 8.2. AMHS security issues

- 8.2.1 Simon Blake-Wilson presented WP10, that provided responses to the paper presented in Phuket that was named "AMHS Security Questions".
- 8.2.2 Claude Leclerc said that the SGB3 responses had been commented by SGA3, as presented in WP13. Both subgroups were generally in agreement but a small number of items had been identified as requiring further investigation and co-ordination between both subgroups. He said that whatever the conclusions of the process would be, special care would be taken so as to not destabilize existing AMHS SARPs.
- 8.2.3 The question of analysing whether there is a requirement for the pending security services (e.g. non repudiation of origin) identified in the Phuket paper was discussed. It was agreed that this should be passed to Subgroup A1 in charge of institutional issues. It was considered premature to have SGB3 working on such technical subjects for which the requirement might well not be confirmed.

# 8.3. Security institutional issues

- 8.3.1 Tom McParland presented WP11, that listed a number of issues that had been identified, whose resolution was beyond the scope of SGB3 which was a technical subgroup. The establishment of a sunset date for ATN communications without authentication was an example of such issues.
- 8.3.2 It was agreed that this list of issues should be passed to SGA1 for further analysis and process. It was noted that SGA1 had not yet been formed, and this was seen as a matter of urgency by the meeting. Jim Lenz encouraged Panel members to provide resources for attendance and participation to Subgroup A1's work.

Jean-Yves Piram repeated the request that he had made in earlier meetings, that somebody would candidate as SGA1 chairperson.

# 9. AGENDA ITEM 9: ATNP WORK PROGRAMME PROGRESS

- 9.1 Jean-Yves Piram presented a verbal report of WGA activities. He detailed the activities of Subgroup A2 concerning air-ground applications. There had been close co-operation and joint meetings with SGB2 and SGB3. Greg Saccone stressed the issue of Mode 3 frequency variables to be included in CPDLC. None of the possible solutions were really satisfactory, either in terms of additions to the existing CPDLC specification or in terms of interoperability. Jim Lenz clarified that during the Built 1/1A CPDLC implementation that was in progress in the U.S., there had been no mention at all of a potential requirement to support VDL Mode 3. Concerning ground-ground applications as part of subgroup A3 activities, the focus had been on the production of Guidance Material on AMHS addressing, including the development of proforma for AMHS address management by ICAO. Jean-Yves Piram also informed the meeting about various implementation activities that had been reported to WGA, including in particular several projects leading to AMHS systems expected to be operational in 2005.
- 9.2 Brian Cardwell presented WP12, summarising the WGB work programme status. The main areas of activity had been Sub-Volumes IV and VIII of Doc 9705, for the inclusion of confidentiality services in SARPs. Guidance Material associated with security (authentication) had also been further developed and updated for Doc 9739 Ed2. The development of the IP SNDCF had been started, as well as initial validation. It was expected that 2 to 4 months would be needed to complete the IP SNDCF technical provisions. Some initially identified potential work items had not been started, such as multicast, because there were no clear user requirements for these functions. Brian Cardwell requested that States allocate resources to work in SGB3, since this was the main area for further work. The development of confidentiality provisions was expected to complete in 6 months and to have completed GM and validated in 12 months.
- 9.3 The meeting noted the status of Working Groups A and B work items.

# 10. AGENDA ITEM 10: SCHEDULE OF FUTURE MEETINGS

- To make sure that dates were reserved, it was agreed to plan for future meetings, irrespective of the possible ANC decision of merging Panels that could be taken in November 2002. In this context the target was still that ATNP/4 would be held at the beginning of 2004. To meet this deadline, enhancements that were being developed would have to be completed for Summer 2003.
- 10.2 Provisional dates were reserved for a round of ATNP working group and subgroup meetings, from March 11th to 20th, 2003. The location was to be determined. Masoud Paydar said that ICAO would be prepared to host working group meetings in general, and that he would investigate if a sufficient number of rooms would be available at ICAO headquarters at these dates.
- 10.3 In the absence of further subjects to be addressed under Agenda Item 11 (Any Other Business), the meeting ended with these considerations.

# 11. ATTACHMENT A: AGENDA AS APPROVED BY THE MEETING

- 1. Organizational Issues
- 2. Approval of the Agenda
- 3. Panel Secretary's Report
- 4. Doc 9705 Edition status
- 5. CCB Report
- 6. Doc 9739 Edition status
- 7. ATN Security Issues
- 8. TCP/IP Issues
- 9. ATN Work Programme Progress
- 10. Schedule of Future Meetings
- 11. A.O.B.

# 12. ATTACHMENT B: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

NAME	ORGANIZATION	ADDRESS	PHONE/FAX	E.MAIL ADDRESS
BANPHAWATTHANARAK Chonlawit	AEROTHAI	102 Ngamduplee, Tung Mahamek, sathorn Bangkok 10120, THAILAND	+ 662-285-9578	chonlawit.ba@aerothai.or.th
BLAKE-WILSON Simon	BCI/FAA	96 Spadina Ave, Unit 606, Toronto, CANADA	+ 1416 214 5961 + 1416 214 0367	s <u>blakewilson@bcisse.com</u>
BROWN Mark	Oki Electric Industry Co, Ltd	4-10-3 Shibaura, Minato-Ku, Tokyo 108-8551, JAPAN	+ 81 3 3454 2111 + 81 3 3798 7623	mark667@oki.com
BUNYASIRIPHANT Vichuporn	AEROTHAI	102 Ngamduplee, Tung Mahamek, sathorn Bangkok 10120, THAILAND	+ 66 2 285 9580 + 66 2 285 9253	vichu@aerothai.or.th
BURGEMEISTER Alvin	B-twelve Associates	1103 W. Meeker St. Kent, WA 98032-5751 USA	+ 1 253 859 0515 + 1 253 852 4732	al@b12assoc.com
CARDWELL Brian	NATS	Spectrum House, Gatwick Road, Gatwick Airport South West Sussew, UK, RH6 OLG	+ 44 1293 576 401 + 44 1293 576 381	brian.cardwell@nats.co.uk
CHANG Robert	ITT/FAA	600 Maryland Ave, SW, suite 305E, Washington, DC 20024 USA	+ 1 202 863 7360 + 1 202 314 4558	robert.chang@itt.com
CHAPPELL Jamie	BCI	901 Rt. Suite 107, 168 Turnesville, NJ 08012 USA	+ 1 856 228 5757	jchappell@bcisse.com
CID Jesus	AENA	C/J.I. Luca de Tena, 14- 28027 Madrid SPAIN	+ 34 91 321 3266 + 34 91 321 3116	jcid@aena.es
DEDRYVERE Arnaud	DNA	50, rue Henry-Farman 75720 Paris FRANCE	+ 33 (0)1 58 29 47 35 + 33 (0)1 58 09 36 09	arnaud.dedryvere@aviation-civile.gouv.fr
GARCIA Manuel	AENA	C/J.I. Luca de Tena, 14- 28027 Madrid SPAIN	+ 34 91 321 3261 + 34 91 321 3116	mangarcia@aena.es
GENOTELLE Nicole	ON-X Consulting	56, Boulevard de l'Embouchure 31200 Toulouse FRANCE	+ 33 (0)5 62 14 50 73 + 33 (0)5 62 14 54 01	nicole.genotelle@regis-dgac.net
GOUARNALUSSE Omar	Argentine Air Force	Farias, 1327 (1663) San Miguel ARGENTINA	+ 54 11 43 17 6152 + 54 11 43 17 6322	ejeprodicom@sicra.net
HAUF Klauspeter	DFS	Am DFS Campus 10, 63225 Langen, GERMANY	+49 6103 707 2430 +49 6103 707 2495	klauspeter.Hauf@dfs.de
KERR Tony	CIVAL Consulting Ltd.	50 Crondall Lane, Farnham, GU97DD, UK	+ 44 1252 724386 + 44 1252 724384	tony.kerr@cival.co.uk
KITCHENS Kelly	FAA/TRIOS ASSOCIATES	2216 N. Harrison St, Airline TON.VA USA 22205	+ 1 202 646 5931 + 1 202 358 4907	kelly.kitchens@baesystems.com
LECLERC Claude	Eurocontrol	DIS/COM, rue de la Fusée 96, 1130 Brussels, BELGIUM	+ 32 2 729 3355 + 32 2 729 3511	claude.leclerc@eurocontrol.int
LENZ Jim	FAA, AUA-200	800 Independance Ave SW, Washington DC 20591 USA	+ 1 202 366 4034 + 1 202 366 1389	jim-lenz@faa.gov

NAME	ORGANIZATION	ADDRESS	PHONE/FAX	E.MAIL ADDRESS
MAHARA Tadashi	JCAB	2-1-3 Kasumigaseki Chiyodaku, Tokyo JAPAN	+ 81 3 5253 8739 + 81 3 5253 1663	mahara-t2fs@mlit.go.jp
McCONNELL Jack	FAA/ITT Industries	600 Maryland AVE SW #302E, Washington, DC 20024, USA	+ 1 202 863 7327 + 1 202 863 7320	jack.j.mcconnell@itt.com jack.ctr.mcconnell@faa.gov²
McPARLAND Tom	BCI/FAA	6712 Washington Ave, Suite 101 Egg Harbor Twp, NJ 08234, USA	+ 1 609 641 9698 + 1 609 641 0203	tmcparland@bcisse.com
MITTAUX-BIRON Gérard	STNA	1 avenue du Dr Grynfogel – BP 1084 31035 Toulouse Cédex FRANCE	+ 33 (0)5 62 14 34 82 + 33 (0)5 62 14 96 36	gerard.mittaux-biron@cena.fr
MOULTON Jim	ONS/FAA	22636 Glenn Drive Suite 305 Sterling, VA 20164, USA	+ 1 703 481 9590 + 1 703 481 9509	moulton@ons.com
PAYDAR Masoud	ICAO	999 University St. Montreal, QC, CANADA H3C 5H7	+ 1 514 954 8219 ext. 8210 + 1 514 954 6759	mpaydar@icao.int
PHRUKKUMWONG Chanyut	AEROTHAI	102 Ngamduplee, Tung Mahamek, sathorn Bangkok 10120, THAILAND	+ 66 2 285 9250 + 66 2 285 9253	chanyut@aerothai.or.th
PICARD Frédéric	Sofreavia/STNA	1 avenue du Dr Grynfogel – BP 1084 31035 Toulouse Cédex FRANCE	+ 33 (0)5 62 14 55 33 + 33 (0)5 62 14 54 01	picardf@tlse.sofreavia.fr
PIRAM Jean-Yves	STNA Chef subdivision Messagerie Ops	31035 Toulouse Cédex FRANCE	+ 33 (0)1 62 14 54 70 + 33 (0)1 62 14 54 01	jean-yves.piram@aviation- civile.gouv.fr
PORNPEN Pongladda	AEROTHAI	102 Ngamduplee, Tung Mahamek, sathorn Bangkok 10120, THAILAND	+ 66 2 285 9580 + 66 2 285 9253	pornpen.po@aerothai.or.th
SACCONE Greg	ONS/FAA	22636 Glenn Dr, Suite 305 Sterling, VA 20164, USA	+ 1 703 481 9590 + 1 703 481 9509	gsaccone@ons.com
SAKAUE Naoto	Mitsubishi Electric	Kamimachiya 325, Kamakura, Kanagawa JAPAN	+ 81 467 41 3532 + 81 467 41 3570	sakaue@siden.cow.melco.co.jp
SAYADIAN Léon	FAA/ASD-130	800 Independence Av, Washington DC 20591, USA	+ 1 202 358 5316 + 1 202 358 4907	leon.sayadian@faa.gov
SUPANUNDHA Nuttawat	Aeronautical Radio of Thailand	102 Ngamduplee, Tung Mahamek, sathorn Bangkok 10120, THAILAND	+ 66 2 285 9246 + 66 2 285 9253	nuttawat@aerothai.or.th
TAMALET Stéphane	AIRBUS France	316 Route de Bayonne PO Box M 3031 31060 Toulouse Cedex 03 France	+ 33 (0)5 61 93 06 48 + 33 (0)5 61 18 51 55	stephane.tamalet@airbus.com
VABRE Pierre	STNA	1 avenue du Dr Grynfogel – BP 1084 31035 Toulouse Cédex FRANCE	+ 33 (0)1 62 14 57 61 + 33 (0)1 62 14 54 02	pierre.vabre@regis-dgac.net
VACHER Jean-Marc	ON-X Consulting	56, Boulevard de l'Embouchure 31200 Toulouse FRANCE	+ 33 (0)5 62 14 54 74 + 33 (0)5 62 14 54 01	jean-marc.vacher@regis-dgac.net
WHYMAN Tony	Eurocontrol	P.O Box 31, Alresford Hants, 5024, UK	+ 44 1962 735580 + 44 1962 735581	tony.whyman@helios.is.com

# 13. ATTACHMENT C: LIST OF WORKING, INFORMATION AND DISCUSSION PAPERS

Paper Number	Agenda Item	Presenter	Title
WGA04-WP01	1	J.Y. Piram / B. Cardwell	Agenda
02	1	J.Y. Piram / B. Cardwell	List of Working Papers
03	1	J.Y. Piram / B. Cardwell	List of Attendees
04	3	M. Paydar	Update from Panel Secretary
05			withdrawn
06	7	C. Leclerc	Use of Internet-based protocols to support ground communications in Europe
07	7	N. Sakaue	Position Statement of Japan on IP-based AMHS
08	8	T. McParland	Summary Report of Confidentiality Solution
09	8	T. Kerr	Addition of Confidentiality in ULCS and Applications
10	8	S. Blake-Wilson	Response to "AMHS Security Questions"
11	8	T. McParland	Security Institutional Issues
12	9	B. Cardwell	WG B programme status report
13	8	C. Leclerc	Commented response to "AMHS Security Questions"
WGA04-IP01		None (report already approved in Thailand)	JWG03 Report
02	7	C. Leclerc	IPAX Task Force presentation (slides)
03	7	T. Whyman	IPv6 integration in the ATN
04			withdrawn
05	7	J. Moulton	Confusion regarding air-ground ATN applications over TCP/IP

# 14. ATTACHMENT D: GUIDANCE PROVIDED BY ATNP ON "AMHS OVER TCP/IP"

# **Agenda Item 8: TCP/IP Issues**

# Flimsy 2 Rev. B (approved): Guidance provided by ATNP on "AMHS over TCP/IP"

It has been observed that some States or even Regions are implementing or planning to implement AMHS systems making use of lower communication layers that are not conformant to the ATN Internet Communication Services (ICS). Such AMHS systems conform to Doc 9705, Sub-Volume III, Chapter 1, with the exception of the clauses related to interfacing with ATN ICS. The most frequent occurrence of such non-compliant systems is related to AMHS systems making use of TCP/IP lower layers through a RFC1006 interface ("AMHS over TCP/IP").

Due to the store-and-forward nature of the AMHS, this can be done without compromising the end-to-end interoperability at the AMHS application layer with SARPs-compliant AMHS implementations, but at the cost of some dual-stack systems1 for lower layers. Strict conformance to Doc 9705, Sub-Volume III, Chapter 1 is required, with the only exception of clause 3.1.2.2.2.1.2 ("Use of Transport Service"), to ensure such end-to-end interoperability.

The reasons invoked by States adopting such local policies include the following:

- The need for an immediate or short-term transition from existing ground networks, and in particular from X.25 networks that are reaching obsolescence;
- The use of a common ground network infrastructure shared with other ground applications, such as radar data distribution or inter-centre communications (such as OLDI in Europe), such infrastructure being sometimes already in operation.

It should be noted that in all known cases, the IP network used or planned to be used is a network infrastructure in which switching equipment and links are dedicated to ATS communications, building a so-called "private" IP network.

It is recognized that other transition strategies can also be developed, that make use of the proposed IP SNDCF to enable IP sub-networks to be used as ATN sub-networks, in a fully SARPs-compliant ATN ICS architecture. However such an architecture is not discussed in the present document.

Despite the fact that the implementation of "AMHS over TCP/IP" can meet, as described above, the specific objectives of a State on a local or regional basis, the attention of implementers should be drawn to the fact that the implementation of two different architectures has the following drawbacks:

- It limits "any-to-any" communication between AMHS systems on a global basis that could be needed in specific cases, e.g. for performance requirements;
- it requires the implementation by some States of "dual-stack" AMHS systems, to gateway between AMHS systems using the ATN ICS and AMHS systems using TCP/IP. This may reduce performance and availability;
- The cost of such gateway facilities is expected to be borne by States implementing non SARPs-compliant AMHS

<sup>1</sup> Such dual-stack systems are beyond the baseline ATN architecture which is specified by ICAO.

systems.

In view of the elements above, the following guidance is offered by the ATN Panel on the use of "AMHS over TCP/IP":

- 1. "AMHS over TCP/IP" implementations should not be presented as fully SARPs-compliant ATN implementations.
- 2. Non-SARPs-compliant "AMHS over TCP/IP" implementations are seen as a "local solution" within a State or Region. Inter-State or inter-Regional connections between such systems using TCP/IP should be subject to bilateral/regional agreements.
- 3. States or Regions that implement "AMHS over TCP/IP" systems within their domains are responsible for taking those necessary measures to ensure interoperability with SARPs-compliant implementations in other States or Regions.
- 4. Appropriate security measures should be taken when using an IP network, irrespective of whether AMHS uses TCP/IP directly or via the IP SNDCF.

The ATNP will continue to monitor related developments and will provide further guidance as appropriate.